CROWN ROLLER MILL
West Side Milling District
105 Fifth Avenue South
Minneapolis
Hennepin County
Minnesota

HAER No. MN-12

HAER MINN 27-MINAP 21-

PHOTOGRAPHS

WRITTEN HISTORICAL AND DESCRIPTIVE DATA

HISTORIC AMERICAN ENGINEERING RECORD
National Park Service
Rocky Mountain Regional Office
Department of the Interior
P.O. Box 25287
Denver, Colorado 80225

HISTORIC AMERICAN ENGINEERING RECORD

CROWN ROLLER MILL

27-MINAP

HAFR

Location:

West Side Milling District 105 Fifth Avenue South

UTM:

15:479560:4980590

Quad:

Minneapolis South, Minnesota (1967, revised 1972)

Date of Construction:

1879/1880 (alterations 1885, 1888, 1890, 1908,

1944, 1985)

Present Owner:

Hayber Development Group (at time of renovation)

Present Use:

The mill was renovated for use as office space in

1987.

Significance:

The Crown Roller Mill is historically significant for its unusual architectural detailing and close association with Minneapolis' "West Side Milling District." Begun in 1879 and completed in 1880, the Crown was one in a series of flour mills built on the West Side during the 1870s. The new structure was among the largest of these mills, and one of the first to utilize rollers and the gradual-reduction milling process on a large scale. While most flour mills were plain, utilitarian structures, the Crown was unique for its full mansard roof, segmental arched windows, ornamental date and name plaque, and other architectural details. The Crown and other West Side mills helped establish Minneapolis as the flouring capital of the United States from 1880 to 1930. Due to widespread mill closures in the 1930s, the Crown Roller Mill is currently one of only four West Side flour mills still standing. In 1971, the Minnesota State Historic Preservation Office of the Minnesota Historical Society nominated the structure to the National Register of Historic Places as part of the St. Anthony Falls Historic District.

Historians:

Demian Hess and Jeffrey A. Hess, January 1990

Completed in 1880, the Crown Roller Mill is historically significant for its unusual architectural detailing and close association with Minneapolis' "West Side Milling District." As one of the largest and best equipped of the West Side mills, the Crown Roller Mill helped establish Minneapolis as the flouring capital of the United States. Befitting its importance, the Crown possesses a full mansard roof, segmental—arched windows, and other architectural details which mark it as the "architectural gem" of the West Side, where most flour mills were plain, utilitarian structures. Currently, the Crown is one of only four flour mills still standing on the West Side, and is thus an important artifact of the area's past.

The West Side Milling District lies on the west bank of the Mississippi River, adjacent to the Falls of St. Anthony. It is bounded by the river, Fourth Avenue South, South Second Street, and Eighth Avenue South. The Minneapolis Mill Company acquired the land in 1856 to gain riparian title to half the waterpower of the falls. The other half of the waterpower belonged to the St. Anthony Falls Water Power Company, which owned land on the opposite shore of the river. 1

In 1856-1858, the two companies cooperated in building a dam above the falls to make the Mississippi's power available for manufacturing purposes. Shaped like a giant "V" pointing upstream, the new dam guided the river into mill ponds along either shore. On the West Side,

Minneapolis Mill built a power canal from the mill pond to mill seats along South First Street. When completed in 1865, the canal was approximately 900 feet long, 50 feet wide, and 14 feet deep. Minneapolis Mill sold sites along the canal to manufacturers and leased the

waterpower.

Attracted by Minneapolis Mill's improvements, a wide variety of industries settled in the West Side Milling District during the 1860s. By 1871, the area contained 25 waterpowered establishments. These consisted of ten flour mills, seven sawmills, two woolen mills, a cotton mill, a paper mill, an iron works, a sash mill, a planing mill, and a railroad machine shop. The district also contained several steam powered plants, including metal shops, woodworking establishments, and a small custom gristmill. Despite the industrial diversity of the 1860s, flour milling became the West Side's dominant industry in the 1870s. This industrial specialization was largely due to technological improvements which, almost overnight, made Minneapolis flour the most profitable product in the industry.

During the 1860s, Minneapolis millers relied on standard flouring techniques developed in Eastern flouring centers. Accordingly, millstones were set close together and run at high speeds to produce as much meal as possible from a single grinding. The meal was then sifted, or "bolted," through cloth to remove impurities. Although "low grinding" made an acceptable flour from winter wheat, the staple cereal of Eastern mills, it did not produce favorable results from spring wheat, which was grown in Minnesota. There were two problems. First, spring wheat had a more brittle husk, or bran, than winter wheat. In winter wheat, the bran separated under the millstones into large flakes that were easily removed during bolting. In spring wheat, however, the bran shattered into fine particles that were difficult to remove, discoloring the flour. Secondly, although spring wheat had a much higher gluten content than winter wheat,

its glutenous layer was also much harder—too hard, in fact, to be reduced in a single grinding. Instead of pulverizing spring wheat gluten, low grinding methods merely granulated it into "middlings," which were sifted out of the flour during bolting. Speckled with bran and lacking in gluten, spring wheat flour was no match on the market for the winter wheat product.

To improve the quality of their flour, Minneapolis millers began experimenting in the late 1860s with a "New Process" that seemed better suited to spring wheat. The most important elements of the New Process were "high grinding" and the "middlings purifier." As milling historian Robert Frame explains:

In simplified form here is how the New Process and middlings purifier worked. The wheat kernel passed through millstones set just high enough to break it up, cracking the hard center and separating the bran. This meal was fed into the purifier on a vibrating sieve. Air blasts and suction removed the light bran; larger and heavier impurities remained on the sieve, and the now-purified, white middlings passed through. These would be put back through the millstones and reduced to flour.

The New Process was first successfully used on a large-scale in 1870, at Cadwallader C. Washburn's West Side "B Mill." New Process flour immediately proved popular, commanding a significantly higher price than winter wheat flour produced by "low grinding." By 1875, New Process spring wheat flour was worth up to \$2.25 more per barrel than the traditional winter wheat product. To keep pace with soaring demand, Minneapolis millers dramatically expanded their production facilities. From 1870 to 1880, seventeen new flour mills were built on the West Side. Even disaster could not stem the rising tide of mill construction. When the Washburn "A Mill" exploded and leveled five other West Side mills in

1878, all six were rebuilt and operating within two years.

Concurrent with this increase in flour milling was a decrease in other types of industrial activity on the West Side. This decline resulted partly from general economic conditions and partly from the conscious policy of the Minneapolis Mill Company. Convinced that sawmilling operations wasted waterpower, the Minneapolis Mill Company, between 1876 and 1880, purchased most of the sawmills on the West Side and, within a decade, phased them out of production. Other businesses, such as the Monitor Plow Works in 1875, and the Union Iron Works in 1879, left the district of their own accord to find more room for expansion. Still other firms, such as the Minneapolis Woolen Mill in 1875, and the Minneapolis Cotton Manufacturing Company in 1881, simply succumbed to the competitive pressures of an increasingly national market. By 1880, flour milling had become the main industry of the West Side District.

The West Side mills were a visible symbol of the flour industry's dominance over the West Side District. These new structures were among the largest of their kind ever built, and marked a new chapter in flour mill design. In the 1860s, a daily output of 500 barrels was considered extraordinary for a flour mill. However, as national demand for New Process flour swelled, West Side mills grew steadily larger. By the early 1880s, daily outputs of 600 to 800 barrels were considered typical. After being rebuilt in 1880, the Washburn A Mill had a projected daily capacity of 3,000 barrels, making it the largest flour mill in the world. The building did not hold the title long, however, for it was surpassed in both size and capacity by the Pillsbury "A Mill," built across the Mississippi from the West Side District in 1881.

The West Side mills also ushered in an era of greater complexity in mill design and operation. Until the New Process, milling had not changed substantially since the innovations of Oliver Evans in the late eighteenth century. The entire flour mill was typically run by a single millwright, who oversaw everything from maintenance to production. With the introduction of new machines and increased capacity, however, the solitary miller was replaced by a host of laborers, each performing specialized functions.

The unique character of the West Side flour mills was not lost on the citizens of Minneapolis. The unprecedented scale of the mills became symbols of the city's industriousness, and the mills focal points of pride. New mill construction was watched with avid interest, being routinely reported in the press like so many home-team victories. When the Washburn A Mill was rebuilt in 1880, for example, the United States Miller boldly headlined the event: "MINNEAPOLIS' GLORY. The Largest and Finest Flouring Mill in the World. A Detailed Description of the Magnificent Washburn 'A' Mill. Its Daily Capacity Calculated to Astonish the Uninitiate—3,000 Barrels of Flour in Twenty-Four Hours."

By the early 1880s, the West Side contained approximately two dozen flour mills. According to the <u>Northwestern Miller</u>, "more than one" of these mills, in terms of "size, capacity and perfection of equipment has been the wonder of . . . visitors" Yet one mill commanded special attention: "Of this cluster of mills[,] the 'Crown Roller' . . . is the most conspicuous and is the first to claim the attention of the incoming stranger." In part, the Crown Roller Mill drew notice for its prominent siting on the highest ground in the district. Added to this, the Crown

was outstanding for its architectural detailing, size, furnishing and capacity.

Charles Morgan Hardenbergh was the driving force behind the construction of the Crown Mill. Originally from New Jersey, Hardenbergh moved to Minneapolis and established an iron works in 1862. His enterprise was originally located on the east side of the river, but he moved to the West Side Milling District in 1865. Named the Minnesota Iron Works, the new foundry was at the corner of South First Street and Fifth Avenue South. 10

The Minnesota Iron Works was unusual in two respects. First, it was the only iron works in the West Side District that owned and utilized waterpower rights. Second, it was the largest company of its kind in Minneapolis. Neither consideration, however, was a strong enough inducement to keep Hardenbergh in the iron business. As flour milling profits soared in the 1870s, Hardenbergh decided to follow the trend and turn miller. In 1878, Hardenbergh announced his intention to build a massive flour mill on the site of his iron works. The St. Paul Pioneer Press first reported the undertaking in September:

ANOTHER GREAT FLOURING MILL is to be built in Minneapolis, work to be commenced immediately, by Mr. C. M. Hardenbergh, owner of the Minnesota Iron Works [which] . . . has for sometime been leased to . . Mr. O. A. Pray. The lease has now expired, . . . and Mr. Hardenbergh is at length enabled to carry out his pet scheme of erecting a model flour mill, on the site of his present buildings. He has sold his tools, patterns, etc., . . . and will at once begin the construction of THE MODEL FLOURING MILL OF MINNEAPOLIS, to contain twenty runs of stone, and cost \$80,000, on the site of his present machine shop and foundry. He will build of stone, or brick, will begin work at once, and will put in the latest and most improved machinery for making flour. The mill will be thoroughly built, systematically and scientifically fitted up . . .

Hardenbergh did not attempt to enter the flour industry on his own.

Instead, he joined the prominent Minneapolis milling firm of Christian Brothers and Company, of which the principal members were John A. and Llewellyn Christian and Charles Everett French. Christian Brothers and Company engaged William F. Gunn, a Minneapolis mill furnisher formerly of Gunn, Cross and Company, to prepare plans for the as-yet unnamed mill. Even before the plans were completed, however, work began on the foundations. In February, 1879, the Northwestern Miller reported that "work has been commenced on the excavation for C. M. Hardenbergh's new flouring mill." And in March it again alerted the public to the fact that "work has been commenced on the excavation for the foundation . . . , and Billy Gunn is hard at work on the plans." 13

With plans partially prepared and the foundation excavated,

Hardenbergh and the Christians secured a contractor by mid-March to erect
the building. Although the exact details were still uncertain, the mill
was expected to be quite substantial. In March, the St. Paul Pioneer

Press headlined that the mill was to be "THE BIGGEST OF ALL," with a daily
capacity of 2,000 barrels. On March 21, the Northwestern Miller
reported the structure's general dimensions and features:

The building for the Hardenburgh [sic] and Christian mill, the plans for which are now being made by W. F. Gunn, will occupy a ground space of 124 x 145 feet, and will, when completed, be larger than any mill now on the falls. From the basement floor to the bottom of the tail race the distance will be 48 feet; the basement 16 feet high, and the 1st, 2d, 3d, 4th and 5th floors will be 16, 14, 14, 15, and 20 feet respectively; the height of the 6th story or attic is not yet determined upon and will depend upon the style of the roof which covers the structure. The first floor will be about three feet nine inches above the level of the side track on the west side of the mill, and the height of the mill from the eaves to the ground will be in the neighborhood of ninety feet The ground space of 124 x 145 feet includes room for a fireproof storage warehouse with a capacity of 90,000 bushels of wheat. The building is to be of light colored brick with red brick trimmings and window sills of Ohio stone.

Miller stated that "the Hardenburgh [sic] mill will have a French roof of iron." The incorporation of a mansard, or "French", roof was significant, for it revealed Hardenbergh's commitment to erecting an imposing and "model" mill. As architectural historian Donald R. Torbet has pointed out, the mansard roof first appeared in Minneapolis in 1864 and "for almost twenty years thereafter . . . was the pre-eminent stylish motif, alone sufficient to mark any building as fashionable "17 By contrast, most Minneapolis mills were plain, utilitarian structures. Architectural detailing consisted primarily of simple pilaster strips, arched window openings, and cornices, usually confined to a single, primary facade. For the most part, mill designers relied on the sheer size of their structures for visual impact. Breaking with this trend, Hardenbergh's mill was to combine mass, siting and architectural styling for maximum visual effect. 18

Further proof of the mill's progressive design came in August, 1879, when its name was first unveiled: The Crown Roller Mill. The appellation was important, for it signaled that rollers were to be employed rather than traditional millstones. Up until that time, roller mills were not widely used in American milling. Although the new technology was a potential improvement over millstones, which were expensive to manufacture and difficult to maintain, early roller mills were plagued by technical problems which limited their appeal. 19

The situation began to change in 1878, when William Dixon Gray, formerly a Minneapolis mill engineer, redesigned and improved the roller mill marketed by the Edward P. Allis Company of Milwaukee. Gray convinced

Cadwallader C. Washburn to install the new machine in the "Experimental C Mill," which was being built in the wake of the 1878 explosion. In addition to installing the roller mills, Gray conceived of an entirely new system for producing flour. Termed the "gradual reduction process," Gray's new system differed from the "New Process" in that it subjected the middlings to a much more elaborate and automatic series of grindings and purifications. The net result was faster production of a much larger quantity of high-quality flour.

Gray completed his design of the Washburn Experimental C Mill in January, 1879, making it the first modern, automatic, all-roller, gradual reduction flouring plant. Unfortunately, most Minneapolis millers ignored Washburn and Gray's innovation. When the six mills leveled in the 1878 explosion were rebuilt, all were fitted for the outdated New Process system. 20

The Crown Roller Mill, however, was a notable exception. Not only did the mill employ rollers, but it adopted the gradual reduction process as well. When the Crown began operation in 1880, the Northwestern Miller stated: "The mill, as constructed, . . . is worked on the gradual reduction or high grinding system, improved and perfected as far as American ingenuity has yet been able to go." As one historian has observed, the Crown Roller Mill was one of the few "Minneapolis plants which thoroughly demonstrated the superiority of graduated steel rollers over old-fashioned buhr stones." 22

Construction of the Crown Roller Mill began on April 14, 1879, when workers set the cornerstone. By October, the contractor had largely completed the exterior, and work began to furnish the mill. 23 On May 21.

1880, the <u>Northwestern Miller</u> announced that half of the mill had been fitted and was producing 1,000 barrels of flour a day (see HAER Photo No. MN-12-28; also see Supplementary Data Section for copy of <u>Northwestern</u> Miller article). It went on to publish a detailed tour of the structure:

The foundation and basement walls are of native blue limestone, four feet thick, and resting on the solid limestone ledge which forms the crest of the falls of St. Anthony. Above these enduring foundations the massive walls of cream colored brick rise to a height of about seventy-five feet, and the whole is surmounted by a mansard roof, which forms the sixth or attic story of the building, and makes the total height of the building over one hundred feet from the ground. The roof is of galvanized iron, and in spite of its great size the building is of most tasty finish

In addition to the mansard roof, unusual detailing included an ornate stone date and name plaque centered in the west facade, and decorative brick segmental window arches that were further enhanced by stones at the spring points and key (see HAER Photo No. MN-12-9). Other details on the Crown Mill were more typical. As in other West Side brick flour mills, fenestration was located within panels created by raised brick pilaster strips. The pilasters were joined at the top by a brick band, and arches over each pilaster suggested column capitals (see HAER Photo No. MN-12-1).

The south end of the mill was equipped as an elevator to store grain. The elevator's location was marked on the south facade by the lack of fenestration (see HAER Photo Nos. MN-12-4, MN-12-18, MN-12-19, MN-12-20). To reduce the risk of fire, the elevator was partitioned from the rest of the mill by a brick firewall which rose above the roof and, according to the Northwestern Miller, "through which there is only one opening into the mill. The passageway through the elevator on the first floor is arched over with brick, so that there is no communication with the elevator except through small [iron] doors on either side [of the passageway] . . . " The

elevator stored grain in 30 circular iron bins, each measuring 7 1/2 feet in diameter and 66 feet in depth. The <u>Northwestern Miller</u> estimated the elevator's capacity at 98,000 bushels.

The remainder of the mill was chiefly devoted to flouring and dust control operations. At the time of the 1880 article, grinding operations were located on the first, second, and third floors, as well as the basement. Although rollers were chiefly employed, millstones were located in the basement and on the first floor. The main roller milling operation was located on the second floor, and consisted primarily of "Gray's double corrugated" and "Downton's smooth four roller mills." Middlings separation equipment, bolting chests, and reels were distributed throughout the mill from the third to the sixth floors. "Bean Dust Collectors" were located on each floor, and filtered the purifier exhaust to remove explosive flour dust (see Supplementary Data Section for further information on the mill's layout and operation).

Waterpower supplied the motive force for all machinery in the mill. A brick headrace conveyed water to a 30 x 30-foot stone forebay located under the southeast corner of the basement (see HAER Photo No. MN-12-21). The forebay emptied into two circular, brick-lined wheel pits, each twelve feet in diameter (see HAER Photo Nos. MN-12-24, MN-12-25). At the time of the Northestern Miller article, only one wheel pit had been furnished. It contained a vertical, 48-inch, 400-horsepower, "New American" turbine, which operated under a 32-foot head and was manufactured by Stout, Mills and Temple of Dayton, Ohio. Bevel gears connected the turbine shaft to the main drive shaft in the basement. The main shaft, in turn, transmitted power to line shafts on the first, second and fourth floors of the mill by

means of belts and pulleys. A vertical shaft, bevel-geared to the fourth floor line shaft, transmitted power to the fifth and sixth stories.

According to the Northwestern Miller, a separate vertical shaft ran off the main drive to power "all of the cleaning machinery" in the mill. The Crown Mill's grain elevator drew power from the main drive by means of a friction clutch, "by which the elevator machinery can be stopped and started without interfering with the workings of the mill."

The owners of the Crown Mill went to great lengths to limit the danger of fire. In addition to the dust control equipment and heavy firewall separating the mill and elevator, the owners installed firehoses and placed fire extinguishers, water barrels and buckets on each floor. Christian Brothers and Company also installed a system of speaking tubes and "signal wires" to allow communication throughout the mill. Other amenities included gas lighting, and a brick boiler house attached to the east side of the plant to provide steam heat.

By 1881, the daily capacity of the Crown Mill had risen to 2,400 barrels. 26 Although the mill matched or exceeded the expectations of its planners in terms of its furnishing, beauty and capacity, it did not prove to be the "biggest of all." By 1881, several other "mammoth" mills had begun operation at the falls, including the completely rebuilt Washburn A Mill, and the Pillsbury A Mill. In 1880, these massive flouring plants elevated Minneapolis to the exalted position of largest flour producer in the country, a status it maintained for the next fifty years. As the Minneapolis Tribune observed, "During the year 1880 the mills of Minneapolis manufactured more flour than any other city in America and the capacity for the year just entered upon is double that of any city in the

country, to which the three largest mills on the continent--the Pillsbury A, Washburn A, and Crown Roller--contribute."27

Over the next decade, Christian Brothers and Company made extensive improvements to the Crown Mill. Among these changes, the owners installed new purifying and bolting equipment, and gradually increased the number of rollers. In 1880, the mill operated 58 roller mills. This number rose to 65 by 1882, and 75 by 1885. Due to these modifications, daily capacity rose from 1,000 barrels in 1880, to 2,500 by 1890. To provide power for increased production, Christian Brothers and Company installed two 54-inch New American turbines in 1885. 28

Unfortunately, severe water shortages throughout the 1880s seriously hampered operations at the Crown and other West Side mills. In 1885, Christian Brothers and Company purchased a 300-horsepower steam engine to provide supplemental power. Mounted in the basement, the engine was manufactured by the Wright Steam Engine Works of Newburgh, New York. To provide the necessary steam, the owners enlarged the boiler house and installed an extra boiler. 29

The new engine immediately proved its worth, for low water continued to be a serious problem in 1886. At the end of the year, the <u>Northwestern</u> <u>Miller</u> observed: "The Crown Roller finds its engine a very useful article at the present time, being able by its possession to get out a very respectable amount of flour. Mr. Christian says that he won't be caught another year with low water without a second engine, and then water power can 'go to thunder.'" True to his word, Christian installed a second Wright engine in 1889, and enlarged the boiler house in 1888 and 1890. The owners also substantially improved the mill's fire safety in 1890 and 1891,

constructing a new dust house, installing automatic sprinklers, and replacing gas lighting with electricity. 31

Christian Brothers and Company's improvements to the Crown Mill reflected a general trend in the West Side Milling District. The period 1880 to 1930 was marked by widespread efforts to increase efficiency on all levels of the flour industry. It was, as the editor of the Northwestern Miller observed at the time, "an era of consolidation." In architectural and technological terms, owners extensively improved existing mills to increase production rather than undertake new construction. Mill interiors became dense jungles of machinery, while exteriors were flanked by auxiliary structures, such as engine rooms, boiler houses, warehouses, packaging facilities, train sheds and grain elevators. A writer expressed this trend in 1885, when he wrote: "As in former seasons Minneapolis . . . has shown a considerable gain in milling capacity. Aside from the completion of the Pillsbury B, no new mills have been added . . ., but there are a number of instances where the mills have had their capacity augmented several hundred barrels by the addition of machinery."33

The trend toward consolidation was most apparent in terms of mill ownership. In 1882, two firms controlled approximately 51 percent of the daily production capacity of Minneapolis mills, while the remaining production was divided more or less evenly between sixteen different firms. By 1890, four large corporations controlled 87 percent of the city's milling capacity; and by 1900, three corporations managed 97 percent of the total flour production. 34

Just as with the changes in milling technology, the Crown Mill was at the center of the changes occuring in mill ownership. Under the leadership

of John Martin, a Minneapolis lumberman turned miller, a single corporation acquired the Crown and five other West Side mills in 1891 to form the Northwestern Consolidated Milling Company. Northwestern Consolidated eventually operated nine flour mills and several elevators in Minneapolis. In a statement published shortly after its formation, the company explained that combining the operations of the Crown and other mills allowed it to produce flour with greater economy in an increasingly competitive market:

It is conceded by close students of the commercial and industrial interests of this country that the tendency of the times is toward consolidation of the same, and the intense competition which has brought about the present era of small profits has forced those who would successfully undertake the manufacture of flour to avail themselves of great economies in cost of production, purchasing of supplies, handling and disposal of product, etc., which can only be secured by the most extensive establishments.

The new owners continued to increase the capacity of the Crown Mill, renamed the "Consolidated A Mill," by modifying equipment, installing more roller mills, and updating the waterpower turbines. By 1912, daily capacity had reached 3,500 barrels. 37

Improvements also continued in the mill's steam plant, most notably, a brick boiler-house addition in 1908. Equipped with a 175-foot-high reinforced-concrete smokestack, the boiler house fronted 90 feet on South First Street, extending back along the mill's east elevation for 140 feet. It contained two main sections. The northwest half served as an engine room and coal storage area, while the section to the southeast housed the boilers (see HAER Photo Nos. MN-12-7, MN-12-8, MN-12-26, MN-12-27). The company installed a new steam turbine in 1916. 38

Northwestern Consolidated also made several changes in an attempt to

centralize operations. In 1908, it constructed the "A Elevator" at the corner of South First Street and Fifth Avenue South, just south of the Crown Roller Mill, to supply grain to all of its West Side mills. Shortly afterwards, the owners built a conveyor from the sixth floor of the Crown to the A Elevator (see HAER Photo No. MN-12-29; also see HAER Documentation for the Consolidated A Elevator, HAER No. MN-16). Eventually, they converted half of the Crown's internal elevator to warehouse space, reducing the mill's grain storage capacity to 35,000 bushels. 39

Operations were further integrated when Northwestern Consolidated converted the Crown's boiler house to serve as a central generating plant in 1910. The Northwestern Miller reported: "The Northwestern Consolidated Milling Co., Minneapolis, is making important improvements to the power plants in the C, D, E and F mills. The steam auxiliary plants at these mills are being replaced with electric motors, which are to be driven by the steam turbine at the central power plant at the A mill [Crown Roller Mill]."

This string of improvements appears to have ended in the 1920s. At that time, significant changes in wheat quality, freight rate structure and tariff policy combined to seriously reduce the demand for Minneapolis-produced spring wheat flour. Faced with a dwindling market, Northwestern Consolidated began to cut back production and close many of its West Side mills. By 1929, the Crown Mill was one of only two Northwestern Consolidated plants in operation. 41 During this same time period, the other great Minneapolis flour corporations, such Pillsbury and General Mills, also began to close their area mills and shift operations to other cities, such as Buffalo and Kansas City. Due to these closures,

Minneapolis finally ceded first place in flour production to Buffalo in 1930. 42

In 1932, Northwestern Consolidated became a division of Standard Milling Company of Delaware. Northwestern Consolidated had actually operated as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Standard Milling since 1902. The latest reorganization was undertaken to consolidate operations and halt the company's declining market share. 43

In an attempt to reduce expenses, Standard decided to electrify the Crown Mill's operations in 1933. At that time, the company still held waterpower leases for the six mill sites once controlled by Northwestern Consolidated. Since it only operated the Crown and one other West Side mill, Standard believed it would be more economical to sell the leases and electrify its properties than continue to pay for unused water. The Northwestern Miller wrote:

The Northwestern Consolidated Milling Division of the Standard Milling Co. has started work on probably the greatest departure in milling circles here in the last decade or two. It has sold its leases in the St. Anthony Falls water power and is electrifying its remaining active units. . . . The total expenditure may aggregate \$100,000, but the work is being undertaken as a matter of economy, because it was unprofitable to continue, owning six water leases, with only two mills actually in operation."

In 1941, Standard Milling Company conducted a study to determine which of its properties to close. Although the report noted the "relative efficiency" of the Crown Mill, it also faulted the structure's nineteenth-century design: "Its daily capacity of 8,000 cwts. [100-pound units] is contained in one unit and . . . [has no facilities for] bulk flour storage [This] single unit arrangement of machinery provides no flexibility in milling operations, and the layout of the mill is poor

for the economical storage, handling and shipping of the finished product." The Crown Mill remained in operation, but its days were numbered. In 1944, Standard made its last major alteration when it replaced the Crown's mansard roof with a one-story brick addition (see HAER Photo Nos. MN-12-11)

In 1953, Standard Milling estimated that the Crown was operating at a yearly loss of \$202,000. Faced with mounting deficits, the company decided to stop production at the Crown Roller Mill on June 30, 1953.

Standard Milling apparently used the Crown Mill as a warehouse until it sold the building in the late 1950s. Until the mid-1970s, the Crown was used for warehouse and light industrial purposes. In 1971, the Minnesota Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) of the Minnesota Historical Society recognized the mill's historical significance by naming it a contributing property in the St. Anthony Falls Historic District. By that time, due to the widespread abandonment of the West Side Milling District, the Crown was one of only four flour mills still standing which dated to the district's heyday as the flouring capital of the United States. 49

In the late 1970s and early 1980s, several developers proposed to renovate the Crown Roller Mill for use as luxury apartments. These plans received a serious setback on the night of October 21, 1983, when a fire completely gutted the building and left only the exterior walls standing. Owing to the structure's instability, the Minneapolis City Council initially decided to demolish the mill. However, under pressure from area preservationists and faced with high demolition costs, the Council eventually agreed to shore-up the structure. 50

In 1984, the Hayber Development Group of Minneapolis acquired the Crown

and several other properties in the West Side Milling District as part of the so-called "Block 10" redevelopment project. In light of the structure's historical significance, the developer, City Coucil, and SHPO entered into a Memorandum of Agreement stipulating that the Crown Roller Mill be recorded according to "Level II Standards" of the Historic American Engineering Record/Historic American Buildings Survey of the National Park Service.

In October 1985, large-format photographs were taken to document the condition of the mill prior to reconstruction. The developers then removed debris from the mill's interior. Renovation work began in 1987. Using new brick to match the original, collapsed portions of the exterior walls were rebuilt, and a new standing-seam, copper-clad mansard roof with pedimented, gable dormers was constructed. Other changes included new window openings in the south facade, installation of new metal sashes in existing window openings, and the creation of a new primary entrance in the west facade. During remodeling, the mill's 1914 turbines were discovered intact in their wheel pits. One turbine was removed so that the wheel pit and tailrace could be used as a storm sewer. The other turbine was preserved in its wheel pit. The Crown Mill and its 1908 boiler house are currently used as office space. This report is intended to complete the documentation requirements for the structure.

Notes

^{1.} Unless otherwise noted, this history of the West Side Milling District and other portions of this report were drawn from a study prepared by MacDonald and Mack Partnership, and others, for the Minneapolis Riverfront Development Coordination Board, entitled Saint Anthony Falls Rediscovered (Minneapolis: Minneapolis Riverfront Development Coordination Board, 1980). Jeffrey A. Hess, a joint author of this report, was responsible for the

historical sections of the previous study. For additional information see: Robert M. Frame, Millers to the World: Minnesota's Nineteenth Century Water Power Flour Mills (St. Paul: Minnesota Historical Society, 1977); Lucile M. Kane, The Falls of St. Anthony, 2nd ed. (St. Paul: Minnesota Historical Society Press, 1987).

- 2. Frame, Millers to the World, p. 51.
- 3. For an extensive history of the New Process, see Robert M. Frame, "The Progressive Millers: A Cultural and Intellectual Portrait of the Flour Milling Industry, 1870-1930, Focusing on Minneapolis, Minnesota" (Ph.D. dissertation, University of Minnesota, 1980), pp. 41-59.
- 4. Ibid., p. 53.
- 5. In 1866, Cadwallader C. Washburn built the "B Mill," which was then the largest mill in Minneapolis, having a daily capacity of approximately 500 barrels; see Edward Duffield Neill, History of Hennepin County and the City of Minneapolis (Minneapolis: Northstar Publishing Company, 1881), p. 393. The mill was promptly dubbed "Washburn's Folly," for, as the Northwestern Miller observed: "An output of five hundred barrels of flour in those days of unprogressive methods was considered enormous . . ." (E. B. Barnes, "The Milling History of Minneapolis," Northwestern Miller 30 (1890): 30-35). By 1882, the West Side contained 19 mills, 13 of which produced 500 or more barrels of flour a day; see "The Mills of Minneapolis," Northwestern Miller 14 (October 15, 1882): 7. For a complete history of the construction of the Washburn and Pillsbury mills, see Frame, "The Progressive Millers," pp. 96-129; also see the documentation for the Washburn A Mill Complex, HAER No. MN-11, and for the Pillsbury Mill Complex, HABS No. MN-29-5.
- 6. Frame, "The Progressive Millers," pp. 85-92, speaks extensively of the "growth of complexity" in Minneapolis mills. He summarizes the changes in the industry when he writes:

"The rapid introduction and acceptance of the middlings purifier and the roller mill in the 1870s was followed by a dramatic increase in mill size and complexity. The new process and gradual reduction milling brought not only new machines but complex new arrangements of equipment, housed in giant new buildings, and operated by armies of workers. In time, there also were increasingly elaborate corporate structures to manage combinations of mills which were becoming involved in far-reaching networks of domestic and international trade" (p. 85).

- 7. Ibid., 92-96. Frame writes:
 - ". . . In Minneapolis . . . it was not a matter of building merely large mills but huge, gigantic mills, which were immediately celebrated as being the largest flour mills in the world.

"Minnesota millers and non-millers alike, from the 1870s onward, were in absolute awe of the 'mammoth mills' which were erected at the Falls of St. Anthony" (p. 95).

8. United States Miller 9 (August 1880): 55, quoted in Frame, "The Progressive Millers," p. 106.

- 9. "The Crown Roller Mill," Northwestern Miller 9 (May 21, 1880): 321.
- 10. Horace B. Hudson, ed., A Half Century of Minneapolis (Minneapolis: Hudson Publishing Company, 1908), p. 342.
- 11. This discussion of the Minnesota Iron Works closely follows Saint Anthony Falls Rediscovered, p. 48.
- 12. "Another Big Flouring Mill, C. M. Hardenbergh About to Invest \$80,000 in a Twenty Run Mill, on the Site of His Foundry and Machine Shop," St. Paul Pioneer Press, September 14, 1878, p. 6, col. 2, transcript number 511 in Works Progress Administration Papers, Box 96, Minnesota Historical Society. St. Paul (collection hereafter referred to as WPA Papers).
- 13. Hudson, A Half Century of Minneapolis, p. 342; American Miller v. 7 n. 6 (June 1879): 171; Northwestern Miller 7 (February 7, 1879): 86; Ibid., 7 (March 7, 1879): 147.
- 14. "The Biggest of All," St. Paul Pioneer Press, March 15, 1879, p. 6, col. 4, transcript number 1115, WPA Papers, Box 99. The article also stated: "On Thursday Messrs. Hardenbergh & Christian closed a contract with Mr. Todd, for the construction of their new flouring mill at the platform, the immense structure to be completed by the 1st of August next, and placed in operation in October following."
- 15. Northwestern Miller 7 (March 21, 1879): 174.
- 16. Ibid., 7 (March 28, 1879): 187.
- 17. Donald R. Torbet, A Century of Minnesota Architecture (Minneapolis: Minneapolis Institute of Arts, 1958), n. p.
- 18. A detailed description of typical West Side mill construction can be found in Saint Anthony Falls Rediscovered, pp. 39-43.
- 19. St. Paul Daily Globe, August 29, 1879, p. 3, col. 1, transcript number 2435, WPA Papers, Box 99; The following history of the roller mill and the gradual reduction process relies on Frame, "The Progressive Millers," pp. 64-77.
- 20. On the Washburn Experimental C Mill and Minneapolis millers' reluctance to adopt the gradual reduction process see Frame, "The Progressive Millers," pp. 73-74.
- 21. "The Crown Roller Mill," Northwestern Miller 9 (May 21, 1880): 324.
- 22. Marion Daniel Shutter, <u>History of Minneapolis</u> (Chicago and Minneapolis: S. J. Clarke Publishing Company, 1923), p. 367.
- 23. St. Paul Daily Globe, April 15, 1879, p. 2, col. 5, transcript number 2296, WPA Papers, Box 96; Northwestern Miller 8 (October 3, 1879): 219.

- 24. The following description of the Crown Roller Mill is drawn from: "The Crown Roller Mill," Northwestern Miller 9 (May 21, 1880): 321 (see Supplementary Data Section). The quote is from p. 321.
- 25. All directions conform to the city street grid. By this convention, Fifth Avenue is assumed to run north toward the river, while First Street runs east to west.
- 26. Neill, <u>History of Hennepin County and the City of Minneapolis</u>, p. 396; <u>Minneapolis</u> Tribune, May 15, 1881, p. 11, cols. 4-5.
- 27. "Milling Statistics," Minneapolis Tribune, May 15, 1881, p. 9, col. 6.
- 28. Information on the mill's furnishing at various times has been drawn from the following sources: Northwestern Miller 14 (October 16, 1882): 7; Minneapolis, Minnesota, v. 1 (New York: Sanborn Map Publishing Company, 1885), plate 2 (hereafter referred to as "1885 Sanborn"). For the 1890 capacity of the Crown Mill, see Barnes, "The Milling History of Minneapolis," p. 35. For information on the turbines, see Northwestern Miller 19 (June 12, 1885): 561.
- 29. See Kane, The Falls of St. Anthony, pp. 114-133 for a discussion of the increasing shortage of waterpower during the 1880s. To compensate for the shortage, Christian Brothers and Company installed a steam engine and an additional boiler in 1885; see the Northwestern Miller 19 (June 5, 1885). For a record of the expansion of the boiler house see Building Permit A 142, dated November 4, 1885, Minneapolis Inspections Department.
- 30. Northwestern Miller 22 (December 10, 1886).
- 31. Christian Brothers and Company planned a two-story brick boiler house and flour storage area on the southeast side of the Crown Mill in 1888; see the Northwestern Miller 26 (August 10, 1888): 164. However, there is no indication that this was carried out. A one-story brick shed was built instead; see Building Permit A 1065, dated September 13, 1888, Minneapolis Inspections Department. The shed, housing a boiler, is depicted in Minneapolis, Minnesota, v. 2 (New York: Sanborn Map Publishing Company, 1890), plate 2 (hereafter referred to as "1890 Sanborn"). The boiler house was enlarged once again in 1890, see Building Permit A 2111, dated September 22, 1890, Minneapolis Inspections Department. The new structure is depicted in Atlas of Minneapolis, vol. 4 (Chicago: Rascher Insurance Map Publishing Company, 1892), plate 367 (hereafter referred to as "1892 Rascher"). For information on the steam engine installed in 1889, see the Northwestern Miller 28 (October 4, 1889): 374. For additional improvements in 1890-1891, see the following: Building Permit A 2523 (dated July 20, 1891); Electric Permit F 287 (dated August 28, 1891), Minneapolis Inspections Department; 1892 Rascher.
- 32. Northwestern Miller 28 (November 8, 1889): 547.
- 33. A Tale of Two Cities: Minneapolis and St. Paul Compared (Minneapolis: Johnson, Smith and Harrison, Printers, 1885), p. 38.

- 34. The figure for 1882 is based on "The Mills of Minneapolis,"

 Northwestern Miller 14 (October 15, 1882): 7. The statistics for 1890 and 1900 are from Saint Anthony Falls Rediscovered, p. 37.
- 35. For information on the Northwestern Consolidated Milling Company and John Martin, see the following sources: "A Mammoth Flour Making Establishment," Northwestern Miller 32 (November 27, 1891): 753; St. Anthony Falls Rediscovered, p. 46; Pen and Sunlight Sketches of Minneapolis (Minneapolis: Phoenix Publishing Company, 1893), pp. 104-105; Shutter, History of Minneapolis, p. 368.
- 36. Northwestern Miller 32 (July 24, 1891): 110.
- 37. The changes in the mill's production equipment are recorded on the following insurance maps: 1892 Rascher; Atlas of Minneapolis, v. 4 (Chicago: Rascher Insurance Map Publishing Company, 1892, updated c. 1906), plate 367; Minneapolis, Minnesota, v. 3 (New York: Sanborn Map Publishing Company, 1912), sheet 248-249 (hereafter referred to as "1912 Sanborn"). Capacity is recorded on 1912 Sanborn. The installation of the new turbines are recorded in the following issues of the Northwestern Miller: v. 33, April 1, 1892, p. 487; July 25, 1900; September 16, 1914.
- 38. For the dates of the new power house's construction, refer to the following Building Permits, held in the Minneapolis Inspections Department: A 10212 (dated July 23, 1908); A 10272 (dated September 18, 1908); A 10295 (dated October 7, 1908). The building is depicted in 1912 Sanborn. For information on the 1916 turbine, refer to Northwestern Miller 108 (October 18, 1916): 164, 175.
- 39. A brief history of the Consolidated A Elevator can be found in St. Anthony Falls Rediscovered, pp. 47-48. The conveyor and the alteration of the Crown's elevator are shown on the following insurance maps: 1912 Sanborn; Minneapolis, Minnesota, v. 3 (New York: Sanborn Map Company, 1912, updated to c. 1927), sheet 234.
- 40. Northwestern Miller 83 (September 14, 1910): 666.
- 41. The problems in the flour industry are briefly discussed in <u>St. Anthony Falls Rediscovered</u>, p. 38. For the difficulties faced by Northwestern Consolidated in particular, see Paul M. German, "Standard Milling Company," unpublished corporate history, c.1978 (copy made available by the Uhlmann Company, Kansas City, Missouri).
- 42. St. Anthony Falls Rediscovered, p. 38.
- 43. Northwestern Consolidated actually became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the United States Flour Milling Company in 1899. In 1902, Standard Milling formed to serve as a holding company for all of United States Flour Milling's properties. Despite these takeovers, Northwestern Consolidated continued to operate on a largely independent basis. In 1929, however, Standard Milling was taken over by the Gold Dust Corporation, a New York-based conglomerate. Gold Dust operated Standard Milling as a

wholly-owned subsidiary, and in 1932, it consolidated that company's operations in an attempt to improve productivity and cut costs; see German, "Standard Milling Company," pp. 54-61.

- 44. "N. W. Consolidated to Electrify Mill Units," Northwestern Miller 173 (February 15, 1933): 394.
- 45. St. Anthony Falls Rediscovered, p. 47.
- 46. German, "Standard Milling Company," pp. 79-80.
- 47. Ibid., p. 134.
- 48. Information on building use from the 1950s to the 1970s is derived from Minneapolis City Directories.
- 49. Minnesota Historical Society, "National Register Nomination Form for St. Anthony Falls Historic District," unpublished, 1971; copy on file at the Minnesota SHPO. For the state of the West Side Milling district in the 1970s, see St. Anthony Falls Rediscovered, pp. 33-58.
- 50. "Brick Walls Collapse as Fire Destroys Downtown Mill," Minneapolis Star and Tribune, October 22, 1983, p. 1A; "Crown Roller Mill's Burned-Out Shell to be Demolished This Week," Minneapolis Star and Tribune, October 27, 1983, p. 4B; "Ownership of Burned Mill in Dispute," Minneapolis Star and Tribune, October 28, 1983, 1B; "City Council to Decide on Demolition or Preservation of Crown Roller Mill," Minneapolis Star and Tribune, October 28, 1983, p. 6B; "Compromise on Mill Saves Part for Now," Minneapolis Star and Tribune, October 29, 1983, p. 8C.

SUPPLEMENTARY DATA SECTION

Rorthwestern Miller.

The Only Weekly Milling Newspaper Published in America.

Уолинг 9--- Номого 2! }

MINNEAPOLIS, MINN, MAY 21, 1880.

I THAITE DOLLARS PER TERR

THE CHOWN ROLLER MILL.

Full Description of Mesors, Christian Bee, & Co.'s New Mill, Just Started le lids (fir.

It is aften remarked, both in lest and expect, that if a person resides in this elly left a single week he is sure to eateh the "fever" and Issume as cuthosinale nver the present and falare prospects of the metripedla at Minneada no any one of its "oldest finhaldfunks," "flud the new amer should be impressed with the clic's thrift and lustness progerity, as well as by its lovely surrounchings, is tadto be wendered at when at every turn eminer to vlow senio new Israity or some now Instituce of the *pask* and energy of On eltisone which are last becausing aguveridal. For flds steady and nuccomided prosperity the city is to great measured ura Indelded to the naggiffeed water newer, which, although but yet partially torproved, has unde Minicapalla the foremost usouthelaring point in the op-per Mississippi valley. Large as here been the drafus upon tida power for willing and other namebetaring jarroses. there still remulus more than is yelneeded, and erery day we are edled unen to chroniele llactuargumitar ar conpleton of some new enterprise which b destlued Devertorth to contribute (G full share lowards the material advance ment of the place. In the amount and fell of 1878 the Mournwesters Mindel contained irraneal mention of a new stid untituolli ettlerprise wideli was des three to add largely to the militing interest of the city which was already regarded in the great califling center of the western world. From that thre notif the priment we love peale frequent identifier d the progress of the work, and in our Institute we untounted the miking of the first flour in the mill. It is now but in our plessure and duly in far before the m of the Northwestens Million o can clse description of the new rail, which was annor those shestened by its owners, the 'Grown Bother Mills.'

THE HIGHING.

Attransmotive has long been known a the city of mills, and its cluster of mills, so near together that a person standing to the couler is about within stanc's liros of the farthest me, contains more than one which in size, equality and perfection of equipment has twen the ander of the namy visitors who throug the "nintform." Of this cluster of nalls the "Crewn Reffer," although exceeded In also by one after, in the most considening and is the first in claim the aftention of the incoming alrenger. This promi prominence, it enjoys notess from Its immense size than from its commanifing justiins on the highest granud around the falls. The indiding fiself is en Immunea Unt flu liiustration given herewith talls to convey any adequate has all been dans under Mr. Gunn's per- for the line start pillar idocks, and the enception of its size. It is situated at smull superintendence, and "is greatly to, juilleys, and supplementary about for

the curner of First St. and Fifth Ave. bis credit." Huder his guidance we first month, and fronts 194 feet on Flest St. | visited the and 145 feet on Fifth Ave. The foundstion and imperment walls are of native Idue (Imediane, four lest tilek, and rest-ing on the add) limestone ledge whileh water is led into the until by a lurus the crest ni the hills of St. An-

WHEEL PIT AND BARRNEST The foreicr is situated under the south

all a いる。一大学は選

THE CROWN ROLLER MILL.

thony. Alone these enduring hands, tenul is twelve feet wide and the average those the mussive wide of cream colored lariek abe to a height of eleant seventy tive test, and the whole to arrangented by a mansard roof, which forces the sixtheor attle story of the mill, and makes the total fælglit id the building ever one buildred feet from the ground. The roof is of size the failfilling is of most body ish and gives pleasure to the ichehler, The literation, although small, gives a exterior at the will. Sman idea of its unguitude our ist galacd when it is known that over two million foreke were used in its construction, and that in its lumber lave been used. Work on the langulations was begun early in April. 1879, and the building was ready for the millwrights about six mouthasince, Dorlug this time the lathling has been crowded with lasty workings, and the remilt of their injury can less be told by a description of the internal arrangemen of the mill, which we went through or Friday last, having for our guide Mr. W. P. Gunn, flie gentleman who designed and drew the close lof the will building and arranged the plans and programme for the arrangement of the machiner, and operation of the milt. The work

depth of the water in B is eighteen feet. The caunt apone into a foreboy, thirty feet sonare, with solid afone walls. Next to this torcing are two circular wheel plus, twelve feet in alloweter and theel There are gales between the wheel pits and invelop, and lestwares gelymited from and in spile of its great the fareless and the caust, so that the water may be shut off as desired. The wheels, only one of which is at present lu position, are located iscenty-titue feet lefor the lessencht floor, and work under a head of tidrty-two feet. The wheal which at present furnishes the power for the part of the until which in in running order, is a 42-juch "New interior over a million and a buil feet of American, giving over 400 horse power, local by Stant, Main & Temple, at Day-ton, Ohio, This firm turnished the lumensa hevel geare which treasult the power to the main line shaft. These gears are six feet in diuncter and the eeth are karteen luckes face and loar inches pitch. They are especie of transniliting 450 horse power. The basement is floored with concrete, and is sixteen feet high in the elear. It contains in alilition to the gouring just described, the main line shaft, which is 112 feet long and tapers from seven Inches down to five inches in diameter; the from husk frames for firm run of linbra; the fontilations

driving the vetter with on the floor Next to the pft genring is an eight-foot pulley, over which rams a laulde leather belt twenty-four Inches white, which conveys nower to the fourth dury of the nill. Next to this is a sevenfoot miller, on which also runs a twentyfour luch double leather belt, which irives the smooth relier mills, etc., m the seemed floor, An eighteen-luch double leather last ranging on a six-foot pulley drives twenty double corrugated ridler utills on the second floor. From the farther end of the line shaft, by means of a quartertwist ledt, au opeight shuft is driven, which drives all the eleming mouldners on the floors alsove. At this end of the thic short is a hijer electo juiley, from which is driven the shaft which must be muchinery in the clevator. This judicy is arranged with a tricthen clutch, by which the elevator machluczy can be stapped and storied with ont interfering with the working of the uiff, In the basequent is also a Starieraul fan wiiich wurks Herexhanst en the futurantwive, and the gearing for the sosseuger elevator, which runn from the incompart to the aftic. By its uld we nocend to the

PHAT PERMIT

In the northeast corner is partitioned off a large, roomy affice, which is very nearly litted up. On this floor are five run of faur-feet Preach Infire ma Iron limsk frames, fitted with Helirn'n patent exhanst, which is a sufe proventive of fire or explosion originaling in Inhre aid communicating with the rest of the mill. There pro also after decide earragafed ratter mills, driven from beinw; ola flutt jonekers sud two bran josekers Hight large it may be well to slate that at present nuly one half of this will have been fitted with machinery. The north nther ball in salialacherity rounling, when the total especity of the nell will no lucremed to 2,000 to 5,500 Imreda per duy. At present the nell starts an with equality of alamit Local larrels per day. The first stary is functions leet high, and dling are the line sinte for the ruller nills on the floorabove. On

RELIGED SINGH

ora elgideen daalde Oray's corragated roller nills, flifts of Bownien's smooth lour roller mills and one of the firm refler milite; The all the rediers are of Iron. Here are also the garners over the stones and the Idus over the flour and liren mekers, and thickins to which iron and shorts are held for the retail trade.

THE THUNK ATORY

contains three palm of emiling stones and two wheat geoders, which prepare the wheat fur them on what is known as the l'otta procesa; two double cocklu muchines; four nataler four Smith I'nrillera; two aspiratore, thirty-five air mirifters, two of the Beau dust lumes, faun,

Continued on Page 374.

Continued from Page 321,

etc. The Dean dust estellar is a dowlin for "straining" the air from the puriners, and returning it to the room outirely free from dust, thus adding greatly to line cleanlines and safety of the util. The air machines form one of the especial leatures on this floor. Each mushim makes ave gredes of middings, the aparation being entirely effected by currents of air and by the gravity of the particles. There are also seem No. 3t Sturtovant axiomst fone for working the air machines, and from them branch out a perfect withness of pipes, carving and twisting in overy conceivable direc timm.

POURTH PLOON.

On this thor the bolting chests high such extend on through the two tees nisovo. Timre uro, in all, 81 recis, 33 Inches in albumeter and 19 fest long. Buddles this there are ten grading reals in the attle. On the fourth their are also wnivn of Gray's aspirators, two librismund separators, forty-four oir partitors, ilvo No. 4, Smith partitors, lires of Besu's dust entellers, besides abafting, genring, etc. The line shuft on thia liner la driven from the basement by a twenty-four buck double leather bolt rounding over a seven foot justing. muright shaft to the sixth story or sith is driven from this shaft by a pair of leval genra capable of transmilling 300 horse Four of Rema dust entelors mbru Ilda Bour, and there is the meessary abuiting, gearing, etc. The next or PIPTH PLACE

is filled with the halting chests, ill of Hoggannacher's cyliphrical section purlibre, twenty-four grailing solves the air machines below, and in the south-west corner, partitioned of from the rost of the room, are two Richmond brish nuclibres and two Richmond separators, amb machine buying a expanity of 125 lusticle per hear. On this their are slee three of the innvitable dust catchers.

THE SIXTH STORY.

or allte, is twenty foot high and in it are the upper parts of the bolting cheets, ten grading rock, the heads of the chrysturs, an sir paritler, amillærdiatætebar and the ancessary gearing, abalting, pulleys, etc. A circular stairway leads to the roof, from which the vialter obtains one of the linest views of the city,

The luthling is lighted by guanted will be heated by steam throughout, the baller being placed in a brick buller room ndjoining the main imbling un tha south aids. A stand plus commeted with the elty water works axtemia from hesement - to utile, with hose attachments on mel thore. On each floor are also several Balanak extinguishers, Imredact water on each floor with implete handy by, quaking toles and obem wires from grinding their, and man stationed on each their day and night to watch the manhinery; in fact, every possible pro-

THE KARYATOR.

Rincheed in the same walls, on the west ship of the mill, is the chryster. soparated from the will properly a brick wall which rises above the roof, and through which there is only use open. ing into the will. The passage way from the will through the elevator on the first thar is archoil over with brick, so that There is no community tion with the clevator axrept through small doors on either abhrof the arch, which are closed either shin of the urch, which are closed thin for illuminating purposes, or whether with from playes. The pseudority of the R is that heages of objects may be underly-

elrether from blus. There are thirty of these tiles, ruch seven and me half fee in diameter and sixty-six feet desp. The quen hatwean the blus, which are placed class togother, in also used for atoraga blus. The total espacity of the obvious ta 98,000 Inabels.

The null is award by Messra. John A. und Lowellyn Christian und Mr. Charles M. Burdenburg. Mr. C. R. Fronch is as socided with them in operating the mill. the itru muse being Christian Bres, & Co. Mesers, J. A. & fa. Christian formerly apgrated the old Washings A mill, and luve Islen prominently blentilled with the colling interest of Minneaguris since the introduction of the new present Tita mill, as esmelsmeted, embedies the results of their long experience, and be worked on the gradual reduction or high grimling system, improved and persented na for an American Togethally his yest bean uble to go,
Mr. W. P. Gana, who prepared the

plans and superintembel, the erection at the full, to entitled to much erall for the skill abown in its orrangement, and Mr. Wip. Sherer, the foregon, umber whose direction the unchinery was put in, is entitled to equal eredit for the ax cellent workmanship which is every cellent workmanship which is revery-haps the most important item will be the where yielde. As stated before, the mill theoring mills. Although tinttenberg is petaonly starts up at buil his raparity. We a colling town, there is but one coll of moleratami, however, that it is the in-tention of the rewest to put the other that owned by Fleck & Bros. It is a large tention of the owners to put the other hulf of the mill in abujor us met us prest lde. Even as it ia, it ia a manaanth ea tablishmoot, and lan most immetant and valuable addition to the milling is terest of Minneanolis.

British Agricultural Interests.

James Caird, thoughtenitural authority, in a letter in the firtish agricultural prospects and American composition, says: "Nothing Bia tie present improvement in agricultural bia tropical in the control of the control laws. In this year there have been seen infections." In Kaglani, where seen infective harvests. In Kaglani, where the hilk of the whost crop is grown, there has been lost in three yours one-fourth more than a whole year's wheat crop—a has to the grawers of more than Explicition with ne compensation in higher prices. The hitroduction of foreign ment and ceresis is of innumes benefit to the consuming class of Europe. It must be met by the preduction of naticion which will not bear long storing or carringe, such as tells, fresh hutter, early whent, vegetables, hay, straw, potatoes and sugar beet, grass, farm draining and lumbal ch m selle, from hottor, ourly All interests in Ignal, whather gardinding. garmang. A measure in tain, wanter-owner, occupier, or isberer, must be disen-thrulied. The control of feed tain must be removed. The sain and transfer of land must be shaplified and disequence. Incomrunet to shiplifind and observed, hermi-brief and mivelity intates will thin be brakes up wil addivibled to form minimiens brakes up and antifulfied to form minutents and proparaths. The other of spirindiary labor and capital to the United States and Canada will after the orbiting cambitions of agricultural property in England. Our agreement ones using taself to the change, freely accoping thingout it brings, and skillfully using the advantages which the growth to the best murket sanst siways

Prof. A. Graham Boll has deposited with Johnnian Treftosi containing an account of the first results of tahod by him with an indrament he con-ceived two years ago, and by which light on selved two vivers ago, and by which light can be transmitted just so the ball-phone trans-nite sound. "Whether this beaus," ago the listen Herebi, "that the octard smalled, which, for histonica, is fusting London or Constantingle while Basin lies stooped in the darkness of night, may be sabled to the tim chevator is that lim wheat is stored in this at a distance does not appear.

CORRESPONDENCE.

Milling Notes From an Jown Town.

Mor Northwestern Miller:

One of the principal towns in Clayton county, lews, is duttenberg, pleasantly sitnated on the Mississippi river, about forty raits: above Imbuque, mul on the Chiongo, Chuton, Dubaque & Minuseta rullread.

Unttenberg is a pleasant, lively little city of 1.80 inhabitants, and claims to be eno e or 1, we initialize the same in lower the color of the oblect terms in lower, atthquigh, consider-ing its many advantages, it has grown but slowly, and in the past few years for some maknown recess, probably the growth of Dulmina and alloy of the near, it has de-creased in population and hashoes facilities. Desbles the rational this city has a good stormisat live. The Bourin stoumbent line. The thoring unit saw mills the an honema amount of shipping to va-rious paints on the river, both morth and eouth.

West of the temberg and across the river in Wiscondo the due farming hands are well adapted to robbig all kinds of grain. Farmadapted to consign of knowled grain. Farm-ing, fluiding Unitanhope; the base unriket, transport marry all their grain to this place, Whechold farmers transporting in the whi-ter. Hunge, the healthy inhistries are infli-ing, itselling in produce, and trading in gon-

To the residence of a milling journal per stone helbling, three and me-bolf sterbs figh and Sixine feet on the ground. The mill be run by websim lengths of two himstred hoper rawer and grimle 125 barrele in 🤧 murs. Unlika many milling dras, this loes unt manufactura lts own harrels but lmys thustaves mai psys for thomaunfacture It has recently placed in its nell all the im-provements requisite for making the "New process their, and matrice the reputation of making searce of the very last quality. A strictly order husboss is enriched on, all their streety draw manness we consist of the being shipped to thempound thickness the still like tot running at present, whig to the fall latter at the liner market; but butter tinus in the grain and their trade are auticiputed and Mesors. Phack & Ures, will enjoy their full shore of the benedits.

Besides this mill there are several of odopo importance, but all instal for excellent quality of hour. One two piles north of the city is nwined by Mr. H. F. Wiest, absorone thre miles south owned by Mr. Pelser.

Mr. Zimmerenne's stonet saw and pimileg mill on the river phont a sphrter of a mile from the centar of town gives complayment to a large member of men and smoother the sometry arment with lumbur,

The town is situated comparatively high, and the inhabitants are builtly, good-us-tured, jolly, hour-hoving theraums, mustly, who have never forgetten the old constry sports and postines, and still love to met in their hear garden on Saminy and pass away the time in the norm manner of that close o

ngs in this metion of the country sc ing well. Winter wheat which was booking well. Winter wheat which was throught to be killed out by unfavorable wenther in the early spring is turning out better thin was expected. Spring whint is in good condition, and we are now having pleasant wenther, which is all the farmers Yours troly, J. V. II. on mak for in order to moke the new erep a

Guttenherg, bown, May 12, 1880,

The Antholis of the Double Conveyor-

Killing Northwestern Hiller:

new an article in the Norrawe Minasa of April 25d, innocerning an old patanticks of signification for the man, in rolling in the most and pre-ma, in rolling chasts, or in the words of tim patent, "a secondary short convey-or under the drat conveyor, to roturn a the patent, "a secondary short convey, or unfor the first secondary, a return a part of what is isolated out by the reals for results of the secondary what is isolated out by the reals for results of the secondary short of what is isolated out by the reals for results, "In order to show the absorbity is some factor, The father then shot blenself."

mai injustive of such a clairs, I will give my knowledge of the dendle conveyors in bolt-

ing obrata. - The Konpire mills, of, this place, erected in the year 1816 by Mr. Henton, a millwright of Cleveland, 19th, has two full chests of bolts with clouble or secondary short convoyars under each root, for the parpe chilinal in the patent. These chests are still la mas numbermi.

The Chentz wilk, built by the seson in 1868, had a four real chust with secembery short convoyors for returning. In the same roor the Killsman calls were ercetal by Mr. Aminrson, the formum of Mr. Benton, and had the secondary conveyer, mensou, and near the secondary convey-mention in piper and lower reeds for retaina-ing purposes. This obest is in the mill at

ing purposes. This altest is in the mill at present without any changes. In 1822 muler the supervision of J. A. Italiasan I remoternated a full closet, with full baught double conveyars make the resels. The heaver nearwayer was placed half way accept the first, and was, at that direct terrand the return nonveyor.

in 1850 I reconstructed the fifth ward mills vlich had one real with climble conveyors, me directly under the other, for cutting eif

ond reteroing. In 1821 my brather phased a two reel chest in the River street mills, with the secondary conveyors for reteroing purposes. The year following this mill was harmed, and rebuilt by our itru in the same year, and we placed therein a clost of six 42 buch resis, with double conveyors, for proceedy the purpo infilm Guireyne, our promony tan proposed tischord in the patient. An Abstration and tiscerlption of this chest can be found in Craik's Milens' and Millerights' Unbig, pub-ished tim your after the reconstructi

Milwanken, May III.

Immstrial Notes.

The product of the pottery business in the Bulker States is worth \$4,00,000 in year. A significant edge of the time is the prog-ress which from shiphibiling is making in them. A Scotch flow who longer by estab-ficiting sidy capating years at Stamplat, sev-erally years ugo, now ampley 1,100 Culmed cockman.

nearly pearst ago, now imaging 1,100 Gaintees workshind.
There is a larger imariance in the processing the order of American rectain general the China, mydige to their superbridy were the English (and the China) of the China and the China a

reason and 211,000 from England.

Iron mills throughout banesplouds are reshieling the wages of publishes. Five of the
large mill at Introducty have given includlarge mill as Introducty have given includto the profiles that their pay will be outlinear from \$5 to \$5.00 per for. A like ratiothe will be used as thereone. A like ratiothe will be used as the meaning and in the
mills at Juntate. The unmeaning and in the
stilline are the contents.

infile at Juntate. The amount opinion is crashing some insecutions.

It is notif that there is into one establishment in this country for the manufacture of specticoles by machinery, and that is located at bonding, Pa. The gitteest are into only ground by lagentons machinery run by stoom paton, paton, in the frames and all the bricessess medicate complete the specialization of the majority of the complete the specialization of the majority of the majority of the complete the specialization of the majority of the majority of the complete the specialization of the majority of the major

ection to be a diell for the energies of eliterated furginary.

Augusta, his, has six control factories in operation, mee in the course of heliding, and implicable is being ruleed for still another, the fact two inventey of pulls spinible and to cost 5240,83. The six fuctories used last year sill, six limits of cotton, their products being worth 34,183,183, 1966an mill stocks are ignoted very high. Last year the mills path 10 to 12 per cent divisions, and just away, humbound some in their shiring funds for extensions. This new 24,103 spinite factory will add to the population of the last vit tend for an entire of control of the production of the property of the six of mills make, besidies what they sensiting of milks once, besidies what they remaining a milk make, besidies of control which requires a squapar minually to handly to handly the million of control which requires a squapar in handly to handly include in milling of control which requires a squapar in the product of the pr